No. 93610-2

SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

MILESTONE AT WYNNSTONE LLC, MILESTONE AT WYNNSTONE 2 LLC, AND RED CANOE CREDIT UNION

Petitioners,

and

BENJAMINE PEARSON, VULCAN MOUNTAIN CONSTRUCTION, ABSI BUILDER, INC., GRAVELLY LAKE TOWNHOMES, LLC, CBIC, AND RLI INSURANCE,

Defendants,

v.

FRANCISCO GUILLEN, ROBERTO GUILLEN, HECTOR FIERRO, MARTIN GUILLEN, AND JOSE TIMOTEO,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

VSI LAW GROUP, PLLC Loren D. Combs, WSBA No. 7164 Jennifer Combs, WSBA No. 36264 Attorneys for Petitioners 225 Tacoma Avenue South Tacoma, WA 98402 253-922-5464

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners Milestone at Wynnstone LLC, Milestone at Wynnstone 2 LLC, and Red Canoe Credit Union, (collectively "Milestone") submit the following Petition for Discretionary Review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals decision for which Milestone requests review was filed on August 16, 2016, under Cause No. 48058-1-II. A copy of the decision appears in the attached Appendix. No Motion for Reconsideration was filed.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does the language of the contract between Milestone and ABSI prevent ABSI from be considered a "construction agent" under RCW 60.04.021 and RCW 60.04.011(1)?
- 2. Are previous Supreme Court rulings regarding strict construction concerning who is protected under lien statutes no longer applicable?
- 3. As a matter of law, does RCW 60.04.021, in conjunction with RCW 60.04.011(1), allow for any laborer employee of any level of subcontractor to have an unrestricted lien right against the owner of a property?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Milestone at Wynnstone, LLC (hereafter "Milestone"), is the owner of a parcel of property, and the general contractor in charge of an improvement to that real property (the construction of apartment buildings), that is the subject of this lawsuit (CP 66). There were numerous subcontractors on the job, and Milestone, as the general contractor, was in charge of all of the subcontractors (CP 66-67).

ABSI Builders, Inc. (hereafter "ABSI"), was hired as a subcontractor to do the framing of the apartment buildings (CP 67). ABSI allegedly hired the Respondents, Francisco Guillen, Roberto Guillen, Hector Fierro, Martin Guillen, and Jose Timoteo (hereafter "Laborers") as employees (CP 174-175). Laborers allege they performed the framing work on Milestone's property, at the direction and behest of their employer, ABSI. (CP 2-3).

The contract between Milestone and ABSI enumerated the specific relationship between Milestone and ABSI, as well as what specific authority ABSI had. Section 15 of the contract states:

Independent Contractor. The subcontractor shall under no circumstances be considered as the agent or employee of builder and shall have no

¹This case was decided at the trial court level on Petitioners Milestone's Motion for Summary Judgment. The trial court decided in favor of Milestone, before any discovery occurred. For the sake of this appellate argument, Milestone treats the assertions of facts by the Laborers as the trial court did on summary judgment, "viewing the facts and reasonable inferences most favorably to the nonmoving party." CR 56(c), *Versuslaw, Inc. v. Stoel Rives, LLP*, 127 Wash.App. 309, 111 P.3d 866 (2005). However, for all matters outside of this appellate argument, nothing stated in this argument shall be taken as an admission or concession by Milestone of any fact asserted by Laborers.

right or authority to in any manner obligate the builder to any other person or entity. (CP 67, 69.) (*Emphasis in original*.)

The Laborers do not argue that the contract is unenforceable, or that Section 15 is invalid or void.²

ABSI performed the contracted framing work and was paid for this work by Milestone (CP 67-70). After ABSI received payment, the Laborers allege that ABSI failed to pay them for that work performed by them as employees of ABSI (CP 175). The Laborers acknowledge that they performed their services solely as employees of ABSI, and that they have no contractual privity with Milestone.³ Nonetheless, the Laborers claim they individually have lien rights against the Milestone property.⁴ As such, they filed a mechanics' lien against the Milestone property in May 2014 (CP 71).

IV. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY

The focus of this case is the interpretation of RCW 60.04.021, and definition 1 in RCW 60.04.011.

RCW 60.04.021 states:

Except as provided in RCW 60.04.031, any person furnishing labor, professional services, materials, or equipment for the improvement of real property shall have a lien upon the improvement of the contract price of labor, professional services, materials, or equipment

² Laborers' *Brief of the Appellants, Guillen, et al v. Pearson, et al*, 48058-1-II, filed with Division II Court of Appeals December 4, 2015.

³ CP 174-175 & Laborers' *Reply Brief of Appellants*, pg. 7, *Guillen, et al v. Pearson, et al*, 48058-1-II, filed with Division II Court of Appeals February 24, 2016.

⁴ *Id*.

furnished at the instance of the owner, or the agent, or construction agent of the owner. (Emphasis added.)

RCW 60.04.011(1) defines the term "construction agent:"

"Construction agent" means any registered or licensed contractor, registered or licensed subcontractor, architect, engineer, or other person having charge of any improvement to real property, who shall be deemed the agent of the owner for the limited purpose of establishing the lien created by this chapter.

A. The decision of the court of appeals is in conflict with prior decisions of the Supreme Court

The decision of the court of appeals is in conflict with every previous Supreme Court decision regarding the application of the strict construction rule when determining whether persons or services come within the scope of a lien statute.

1. Strict construction is always used to determine whether persons come within a lien statute's protections, whether the statute is ambiguous or not

The court of appeals in this case determined that RCW 60.04.021 and RCW 60.04.011(1) are unambiguous, and therefore, claimed the strict construction rule is inapplicable when determining whether persons come within a lien statute's protections. It cites this Court's ruling in *Williams v. Athletic Field, Inc.*, 172 Wash.2d 683, 695, 261 P.3d 109 (2011), however, nothing in *Williams* says that the strict construction rule does not apply if the statute is unambiguous.

⁵ Published Opinion, pgs. 9-10, Guillen et al v. Pearson et al, 48058-1-II

The *Williams* Court arrived, instead, at the conclusion that lien statutes should be construed strictly, period.⁶

The court of appeals' assertion that the rule of strict construction only applies if a statute is ambiguous is in conflict with all of the Supreme Court's prior decisions regarding the interpretation of lien statutes. One of the oldest Washington Supreme Court cases on the subject, *Tsutakawa v. Kumamoto*, cited favorably by this Court in *Williams*, explained that "Statutes creating liens are in derogation of the common law and are to receive a strict construction." *Tsutakawa v. Kumamoto*, 53 Wash. 231, 101 P. 869, *modified on another issue by* 102 P. 766 (1909).

A few years later, the Washington Supreme Court affirmed *Tsutakawa's* holding that statutes creating liens receive strict construction, and further explained that "[The lien statutes'] operation will not be extended for the benefit of those who do not clearly come within the terms of the act." *De Gooyer v. NW Trust & State Bank*, 130 Wash. 652, 653, 228 P. 835 (1924) *aff'd on other grounds*, 132 Wash. 699, 232 P. 695 (1925).

Then in Williams itself, this Court said

"We agree with Hos that the appropriate way to view the competing canons of strict and liberal construction is found in our early cases. The strict construction rule, at its origin, was invoked to determine whether persons or services came with the statute's protection." Williams at 696.

⁶ Id. at 696.

None of these cases hold, or even suggest, that the strict construction rule only applies to statutes that are first found to be ambiguous. In addition, this Court held in 1972 that "strict construction...must be employed, when determining whether one is within a class authorized to have a statutory lien." *Dean v. McFarland*, 81 Wash.2d 215, 222, 500 P.2d 1244 (1972). (*Emphasis added*.)

In this instance, RCW 60.04.021, unambiguously applies only to laborers who work at the instance of the owner, agent, or contract agent. As a lien statute, RCW 60.04.021 must be strictly construed when determining of a person or service falls under its protection. The court of appeals said that strict construction did not apply, and then liberally construed the meaning of the statute and the definition of "construction agent" to include ABSI, even though ABSI was contractually prohibited from being considered any type of agent, under any circumstance.

A strict construction reading of RCW 60.40.021 and RCW 60.40.011(1) under these facts leaves the only conclusion that can be reached which is consistent with *Williams, Tsutakawa, De Gooyer,* and *Dean* is that ABSI was <u>not</u> a construction agent, and therefore, the Laborers are not within a class authorized to have a statutory lien.

2. The legislative history and rules of grammar conclude there is no unrestricted laborer lien right

Over time, the construction lien statutes in Washington have grown more restrictive. Remington's Compiled Statute Section 1131 (RRS § 1131 (1893)) stated:

"Any person who, at the request of the owner of any real property, his agent, contractor or subcontractor, clears, grades, fills in or otherwise improves the same, or any street or road in front of, or adjoining the same, has a lien upon such real property for the labor performed, or the materials furnished for such purposes."

Therefore, any laborer had a lien right, regardless of how large or small the (sub)contractor's authority was.

In 1951, the RCW was created and RRS § 1131 became (former) RCW 60.04.040, which said:

Any person who, at the request of the owner of any real property, or his agent, [not contractor or subcontractor as in the RRS version] clears, grades, fills in or otherwise improves the same...rents, leases, or otherwise supplies equipment, or furnishes materials...otherwise improving any real property or any street or road in front of or adjoining the same...has a lien upon such real property for the labor performed...

In this 1951 recodification, the Legislature removed the language "contractor or subcontractor," thus starting the trend of restricting the construction lien statutes.

While discerning a statute's plain meaning, the Court employs the traditional rules of grammar. *Gray v. Suttell & Assocs.*, 181 Wash.2d 329, 339, 334 P.3d 14 (2014). The current wording in RCW

60.04.011(1) is: "Construction agent" means any registered or licensed contractor, registered or licensed subcontractor, architect, engineer, or other person having charge of any improvement to real property..." (Emphasis added.) The court of appeals, in its analysis of this case, completely ignored the implication of the presence of the word "other" as it affected the meaning of the statute. In doing this, the court of appeals adopted an interpretation of the statute that renders statutory language meaningless or superfluous, which is to be avoided. Wash. Dept. of Transp. v. City of Seattle, 192 Wash.App. 824, 838, 368 P.3d 251 (2016).

The deliberate addition by the Legislature of the "other" qualifier, which grammatically ties "having charge of any improvement to real property" to anyone attempting to qualify as a construction agent, is a direct action by the Legislature to narrow and restrict who qualifies as a construction agent under this statute, and thus, who has standing to file a lien.

"Other" is not defined in the statute, and its presence greatly changes the meaning of the sentence. The dictionary defines one meaning of "other" as ""additional"; in addition to the person or thing that has already been mentioned" *Merriam-Webster.com*, 2016.⁸

Consider the following sentence:

⁷ Published Opinion, pg. 9

⁸ If a statutory term is undefined, the Court may use a dictionary to determine its meaning. *Nissen v. Pierce County*, 183 Wash.2d 863, 881, 357 P.3d 45 (2015).

"Allowed participant" means China, France, the United States, or other country having a membership to the U.N. Security Council."

Here, the word "other" clearly applies the description "country having a membership to the U.N. Security Council" to the previously listed entities. To remove the concept of "in addition to the things that have already been mentioned" renders the word "other" meaningless and completely changes the context of the sentence within RCW 60.04.011(1).

Such is the case with RCW 60.04.011(1): "Construction agent" means any registered or licensed contractor, registered or licensed subcontractor, architect, engineer, or other person having charge of any improvement to real property." The word "other" here establishes an element that is in addition to the persons already mentioned. It indicates that "person having charge of any improvement to real property" is a common denominator between the jobs listed. It is a requirement of <u>all</u> of the jobs listed that they be a "person having charge of any improvement to real property" to qualify as a "construction agent."

While the court of appeals is correct in its analysis of the last antecedent rule, 9 it fails to take into account the implications of the rule of *ejusdem generis* when applying the rules of grammar. The *ejusdem generis* rule requires that general terms appearing in a statute

⁹ Published Opinion, pgs. 8-9

in connection with specific terms are to be given meaning and effect only to the extent that the general terms suggest items similar to those designated by the specific terms. In short, specific terms modify or restrict the application of general terms where both are used in sequence. *Dean v. McFarland*, 81 Wash.2d 215, 221, 500 P.2d 1244 (1972).

This Court has noted that "[t]he *ejusdem generis* rule is generally applied to general and specific words clearly associated in the same sentence in a pattern such as '[specific], or [general]'..."¹⁰ as is the case with RCW 60.04.011(1).

When it was asked to interpret former RCW 82.04.430(1), which stated in relevant part:

Amounts derived by persons, other than those engaging in banking, loan, security, or other financial businesses, from investments or the use of money as such...

this Court, under the *ejusdem* generis rule, held in *Sellen* that "the generic term "other financial businesses" must be read in conjunction with the terms "banking, loan, and security." *John H. Sellen Const.*Co. v. Dep't of Revenue, 87 Wash. 2d 878, 884, 558 P.2d 1342 (1976). Similarly here, under RCW 60.04.011(1), the generic term "other person having charge of any improvement to real property" must be read in conjunction with the terms "registered or licensed contractor, registered or licensed subcontractor, architect, [and] engineer." The

10

¹⁰ Southwest Wash. Ch., Nat'l Elec. Contractors Ass'n v. Pierce County, 100 Wash.2d 109, 116, 667 P.2d 1092 (1983).

terms must be read in conjunction, with the specific terms modifying the generic one. They cannot be read as separate units, as the court of appeals did.¹¹

B. The petition involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court

Construction is an essential component to sustaining a population and growing any economy. This petition, and the question of whether or not employees of any subcontractor have a lien right against the property, regardless of whether the subcontractor is a construction agent, is one that effects construction of all types, from skyscrapers to single-family homes, from shopping malls to corner stores, from universities to playgrounds. A matter of law that affects the backbone of the Washington State economy is of substantial public interest and should be addressed and determined by the Supreme Court.

1. The contract between Milestone and ABSI is dispositive

It is clear from RCW 60.04.021 that to have a lien right, the Laborers must have completed the work at the instance of either the owner, agent, or construction agent. If they cannot establish that, their claim fails.

The Laborers do not dispute that they did the work at the instance of their employer, ABSI. (CP 174-175). They also do not

¹¹ Published Opinion, pgs. 8-9

dispute that ABSI is not the owner of the property.¹² In addition, the Laborers expressly disavow that ABSI was a common-law agent of Milestone.¹³ Instead, they claim that ABSI was the construction agent of the owner.¹⁴ But the definition of "construction agent" in RCW 60.04.011(1), when harmoniously applied to the plain wording of the Milestone/ABSI contract, shows this to be incorrect.

In interpreting contracts, Washington continues to follow the objective manifestation theory of contracts. *Hearst Communications, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wash.2d 493, 115 P.3d 262 (2005). The Court imputes an intention which corresponds to the reasonable meaning of the words used. Thus, when interpreting contracts, the subjective intent of the parties is generally irrelevant if intent can be determined from the actual words used. Therefore, the Court generally gives words in a contract their ordinary, usual, and popular meaning unless the entirety of the agreement clearly demonstrates a contrary intent. The Court does not interpret what was intended to be written but what was written. Under this approach, the Court attempts to determine the parties' intent by focusing on the objective

__

¹² Reply Brief, pg. 7, Guillen, et al v. Pearson, et al, 48058-1-II

¹³ *Id*.

¹⁴ Brief of Appellants, pg. 9, Guillen, et al v. Pearson, et al, 48058-1-II.

¹⁵ Id., quoting Lynott v. Nat' l Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, Pa., 123 Wash.2d 678, 684, 871 P.2d 146 (1994)

¹⁶ Id., at 504, quoting City of Everett v. Sumstad's Estate, 95 Wash.2d 853, 855, 631 P.2d 366 (1981)

¹⁷ Id., quoting Universal/Land Const. Co. v. City of Spokane, 49 Wash.App. 634, 637, 745 P.2d 53 (1987)

¹⁸ *Id.*, quoting J.W. Seavey Hop Corp. of Portland v. Pollock, 20 Wash.2d 337, 348–49, 147 P.2d 310 (1944)

manifestations of the agreement, rather than on any unexpressed subjective intent of the parties.¹⁹

The contract between Milestone and ABSI, specifically Section 15, can only be read as one that does not intend that ABSI be the owner's agent or construction agent. Section 15 states:

The subcontractor <u>shall</u> under <u>no</u> <u>circumstances be considered as the agent</u> or employee of builder and <u>shall have no</u> right or <u>authority to in any manner obligate the builder to any other person or entity.</u>
(CP 67, 69.) (Emphasis added.)

The contract expressly contemplates the idea that ABSI could be considered an agent of Milestone, and expressly rejects it.

"Construction agent" means...[one] who shall be deemed the agent of the owner for the limited purpose of establishing the lien created by this chapter. RCW 60.04.011(1) (Emphasis added.) Under the rules of statutory construction, use of the word "shall" makes the interpretation of "construction agent" as "the agent of the owner" to be a mandatory obligation. *State v. Martin*, 137 Wash.2d 149, 969 P.2d 450 (1999).

The Legislature could have used the word "may", which would have allowed the defining of "construction agent" as "the agent of the owner" to be merely "directory" (*Id.*, at 155). Instead, the Legislature chose to use "shall", making the interpretation an

 $^{^{19}}$ Id., at 503, quoting Max L. Wells Trust v. Grand Cent. Sauna & Hot Tub Co. of Seattle, 62 Wash.App. 593, 602, 815 P.2d 284 (1991)

imperative obligation. ²⁰ As such, this Court must conclude that the use of "shall" was done to create a mandatory reading that a "construction agent" must be intended to be "the agent of the owner," as opposed to just an entity with a connection to the project.

The language of the contract is unambiguous, stating expressly that under <u>no</u> circumstances would ABSI be considered the agent, and it is undisputed by the parties that the contract is enforceable as written. To declare ABSI a construction agent would be to patently ignore both the plain language of the contract and RCW 60.04.011(1). To reinforce the notion that ABSI could not be considered an agent, of any sort, under any circumstances, Section 15 of the contract also expressly states that ABSI did not have the right or authority to obligate Milestone to any other person. If the contract's language of "shall under no circumstances be considered as the agent" is interpreted by this Court to mean ABSI is still the "construction agent", such an interpretation would not only ignore the mandatory obligation in RCW 60.04.011(1), but it would also render the second half of Section 15 to be meaningless.

The actual words used in the contract clearly demonstrate the intent of the parties not to allow ABSI to be considered the agent of the owner in any circumstance, and thus the Court should construe the contract under the principles laid out in *Hearst*. However, even if the

²⁰ The Legislature is presumed to know the rules of statutory construction. *State v. Blilie*, 132 Wash.2d 484, 492, 939 P.2d 691 (1997)

Court wished to use a more context based approach, as reflected in *Berg v. Hudesman*²¹ and the Washington Pattern Civil Jury Instructions for Contract Interpretation²², where "any determination of meaning should be made in light of the relevant evidence of the situation and relations of the parties, the subject matter of the transaction...usages of trade, and the course of dealing between the parties", ²³ the result is still the same.

Any attempt by the Laborers to explain away the plain meaning of Section 15, claiming that Milestone "took it out of context", ²⁴ is irrelevant because the Laborers were not a party to that contract. The contract was exclusively negotiated and executed between ABSI and Milestone. Therefore, the Laborers have no standing to make any argument as to what the "context" of the contract was, nor the parties' intent, because they were not there and do not know. The only party who can testify as to the intent of the contract is Milestone, and Milestone presented direct evidence of that intent, stating via declaration that "ABSI was not the agent of Milestone for any purpose." (CP 67.)

Under both the objective, plain meaning rules of contract construction, and the subjective context analysis of the contract, ABSI

²¹ 115 Wash.2d 657, 801 P.2d 222 (1990)

²² 6A Wash. Prac., Wash. Pattern Jury Instr. Civ. WPI 301.05 (6th ed.)

²³ Berg, at 667.

²⁴ Laborer's Brief of the Appellants, Guillen, et al v. Pearson, et al, 48058-1-II filed with Division II Court of Appeals, December 4, 2015

was not the owner, agent, nor construction agent of the property, and as such, the Laborers do not have a lien right under RCW 60.04.021.

2. RCW 60.04.021 does not allow for an unrestricted lien right to all construction laborers

The Laborers' interpretation of the statute would give lien rights to every employee of every entity attached to a job, no matter how many tiers removed from the owner. No Supreme Court ruling or prior appellate court ruling has ever agreed with this position. To adopt such an interpretation would mean that an owner would be required to get a lien release from each and every employee of every entity, each and every pay period, to protect against double payment. To require a lien release from each one for each monthly draw on a construction project would make it impossible for large projects to proceed and there is no evidence, in statutes or the legislative history that the Legislature intended such a result.

3. To be a construction agent, one must be in charge of the construction

In this case, the improvements to real property were the apartment buildings that were being constructed. The party having charge of that improvement was Milestone. Milestone was the construction agent, and if the Laborers had contracted with Milestone or been employees of Milestone, they would have had lien rights, but the Laborers were employees of ABSI. (CP 174-175.) ABSI did not have authorization or charge of the construction of the apartment

buildings, and therefore, was not, and is not, the construction agent.

This notion that the person in question must have charge of the improvement to be a construction agent is also reflected in the seminal treatise on the subject.

A construction agent is the person having charge of the improvement to real property, including but not limited to a registered or licensed contractor, subcontractor, architect, or an engineer and is deemed to be the agent of the owner only for the purposes of establishing a construction lien.

27 Marjorie Dick Rombauer, Washington Practice Creditors' Remedies-Debtors' Relief (2015).

Washington's courts have ruled in a similar fashion. In Henifin Construction v. Keystone Construction, 25 the Court found that Keystone Construction was the construction agent for the project, not because Keystone Construction was hired by the owner as a general contractor, but because the owner placed Keystone in charge of constructing an entire restaurant on the property. ("It is undisputed that Keystone is a registered and licensed contractor that [the owner] placed in charge of constructing its restaurant." (Emphasis added.) Henifin at 274. All of the language in Henifin that specifically talks about the fact that Keystone was "placed in charge" by the owner, and thus the construction agent becomes superfluous and meaningless if, as the Laborers argue, every contractor or subcontractor is automatically the construction agent of the owner with the power to

²⁵ 136 Wash.App 268, 145 P.3d 402 (2006)

bind the owner to lien rights. This would stop nearly every construction project in its tracks and is clearly not what the Legislature intended.

The emphasis placed on the necessity for a construction agent to have been "placed in charge" is also reflected in an earlier decision, *McCombs Construction, Inc. v. Barnes* 32 Wash.App. 70, 645 P.2d 1131 (1982). There, the Court said the son of the owners of the property was not the construction agent because the owners never gave the son authority to effect the improvements and never put him in charge of the project. It was irrelevant whether the son was a contractor, subcontractor, or anything else. What the Court focused on was "Did the owners direct or order the son to do any work? Did he "have charge of the construction?" and the decision to declare him not a construction agent rested on the answers to those questions being No. (*Id.*, at 74.) It is the paramount keystone that one must be authorized by the owner/owner's agent to have charge of the construction to be considered a construction agent.

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