RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Oct 14, 2016, 8:05 am

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 93610-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FRANCISCO GUILLEN, ROBERTO GUILLEN, HECTOR FIERRO, MARTIN GUILLEN, and JOSE TIMOTEO,

Respondents,

٧.

MILESTONE AT WYNNSTONE LLC, MILESTONE AT WYNNSTONE 2 LLC, and RED CANOE CREDIT UNION,

Petitioners,

and

BENJAMIN PEARSON, VULCAN MOUNTAIN CONSTRUCTION, ABSI BUILDERS, INC., GRAVELLY LAKE TOWNHOMES, LLC, CBIC, and RLI INSURANCE

Defendants.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

David N. Mark, WSBA No. 13908 Diego Rondón Ichikawa, WSBA No. 46814 Attorneys for Respondents

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

V. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Milestone seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), claiming that the Court of Appeals' unanimous decision is in conflict with a decision of this Court, and under RAP 13.4(b)(4), claiming that their petition involves issues of substantial public interest that need to be resolved by this Court. Neither is an appropriate basis for review.

1. The Decision Below Is Not in Conflict with Any Decision of This Court

Milestone claims the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with prior decisions from this Court, which allegedly hold courts <u>must</u> apply a strict rule of statutory construction when a statute's plain language is unambiguous. Pet. at 4-6. There is no such conflict. In fact, the Court of Appeals correctly applies case law from this Court holding "the rule of strict construction applies only if a statute is ambiguous." *Guillen*, slip op. at 10. The court stated: "[n]either a liberal construction nor a strict construction may be employed to defeat the intent of the legislature, as discerned through traditional processes of statutory interpretation." *Id.* (quoting *Estate of*

Bunch v. McGraw Residential Ctr., 174 Wn.2d 425, 432-33, 275 P.3d 1119 (2012)).²

The Court of Appeals correctly found chapter 60.04 RCW to be unambiguous on the two issues before it. As to laborers' right to lien, RCW 60.04.021 states:

[A]ny person furnishing labor . . . for the improvement of real property shall have a lien upon the improvement for the contract price of labor . . . furnished at the instance of the . . . construction agent.

The Court of Appeals' holding does not conflict with this Court's opinions in Williams, Tsutakawa, and De Gooyer. See Williams, 172 Wn.2d 683; Tsutakawa v. Jumamoto, 53 Wash. 231, 101 P. 869 (1909); De Gooyer v. NW Trust & Sate Bank, 130 Wash. 652, 228 P. 835 (1924). Milestone suggests that these cases stand for the proposition that lien statutes must be strictly construed even when the plain meaning of the statute is unambiguous. See Pet. at 4-6. Milestone is incorrect.

Williams and the other cases cited by Milestone involve the application of a liberal or strict construction to ambiguous statutory provisions. This Court in Williams applied a liberal rule of construction after it determined the lien statute at issue was susceptible to two reasonable interpretations. 172 Wn.2d at 693. At issue in Williams was whether the lien claimants complied with the lien form requirements under RCW 60.04.091(2). Id. at 691. The court concluded the statutory language was ambiguous and then proceeded to determine whether it should liberally or strictly construe the statute. Id. at 694. The Williams court noted the strict rule of construction applies when determining "whether persons or services came within the statute's protection," and the liberal rule of construction applies to parties "intended to be protected" by the statute, RCW 60.04.900. Id. at 696-97; see also Tsutakawa, 53 Wash. at 234 (similarly noting the statute must be first found ambiguous before courts construe them); De Gooyer, 130 Wash. at 653-54 (similarly noting the legislative intent of the statute was unclear before engaging in statutory construction).

² The rules of statutory construction as announced by this Court dictate "where the language of the enactment is plain, unambiguous, and well understood according to its natural and ordinary sense and meaning, the enactment is not subject to judicial interpretation." State v. Thorne, 129 Wn.2d 736, 762-63, 921 P.2d 514 (1996). In other words, "[i]f [a] statute is unambiguous, its meaning is [to] be derived from the plain language of the statute alone." State v. Costich, 152 Wn.2d 463, 470, 98 P.3d 795 (2004) ("If the language is unambiguous, [courts] give effect to that language and that language alone because [courts] presume the legislature says what it means and means what it says."); accord. Fraternal Order of Eagles, Tenino Aerie No. 564 v. Grand Aerie of Fraternal Order of Eagles, 148 Wn.2d 224, 239, 59 P.3d 655 (2002) (same).

Furthermore, "labor" is defined as "exertion of the powers of body or mind performed at the site for compensation." RCW 60.04.011(7). Framing carpentry is the epitome of construction labor; without framers a building is a mere pile of wood.³

A "construction agent" includes "any registered or licensed contractor, registered or licensed subcontractor, architect, engineer, or other person having charge of any improvement to real property." RCW 60.04.011(1). The issue raised in Milestone's petition for review is whether registered subcontractors are construction agents under chapter 60.04 RCW. The Court of Appeals unanimously held that "all subcontractors that contract to work on a project" are construction agents under RCW 60.04.011(1). *Guillen*, slip op. at 8. The court relied on the plain meaning of RCW 60.04.021 and RCW 60.04.011(1), under which registered subcontractors are deemed to be "construction agents" for the limited purpose of supporting a chapter 60.04 RCW lien claim. *Guillen*, slip op. at 10. It found the language unambiguous. *Id*.4

³ Laborers are not only intended beneficiaries, they have 1st priority over all other lien claimants. *See* RCW 60.04.181.

⁴ Alternatively, the court held that the framing subcontractor in fact had control over the framing of the buildings and therefore met the "having charge of any improvement to real property" test under RCW 60.04.011(1), assuming *arguendo* it applied to registered subcontractors. *Guillen*, slip op. at 12.

The court correctly rejected Milestone's request to strictly construe the lien statute because the statutory language is unambiguous. *Id.* at 10.5 Courts are not required to liberally or strictly construe statutes when the plain language is the statute is unambiguous. *See supra* at 6-7 & n. 2.6

2. Milestone's Petition Does Not Raise Issues of Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined By This Court.

Petitioners fail in their efforts to find an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4). While construction is an important industry, it does not follow that every construction dispute or chapter 60.04 RCW case is reviewable under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Milestone's specific arguments fail. Paragraph 15 of the contract is a run-of-the-mill "independent contractor" provision.

⁵ Because of this holding, the court did not reach whether the construction agent issue was subject to strict or liberal interpretation under *Williams*,172 Wn.2d 683 (strict interpretation limited to issues of whether persons or services come within the statutory lien; otherwise statute is to be liberally construed). The laborers contend that the "construction agent" issue—if based on ambiguous statutory language—would require a liberal construction, *i.e.*, it is not an issue of whether persons (laborers) or services (framing) were intended to fit within the protection of the lien statutes.

⁶ Milestone concedes that the Court of Appeals' application of the last antecedent rule is "correct" and does not argue that the court's use of the rule is in conflict with an opinion of this Court. Pet. at 9. Instead, Milestone seeks review based on a misreading of a different rule -- ejusdem generis. Under ejusdem generis "general terms appearing in a statute in connection with specific terms are to be given meaning and effect only to the extent that the general terms suggest similar items to those designated by the specific terms." Silverstreak, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 159 Wn.2d 868, 882, 154 P.3d 891 (2007). Under ejusdem generis, the general term, "other persons having charge of any improvement to real property," would be construed in light of the preceding specific terms, to wit: "any registered or licensed contractor, registered or licensed subcontractor, architect, engineer" RCW 60.04.011(1). A registered subcontractor is one of the specific terms and is therefore unaffected by any application of ejusdem generis.

Contractors, subcontractors, architects, and engineers will typically be independent contractors—not common law agents of the owner. Their acts do not subject the owner to personal liability. However, RCW 60.04.011(1) makes contractors, subcontractors, architects, and engineers the owner's "construction agent' . . . for the limited purpose of establishing the lien created by this chapter," *i.e.*, a statutory claim against real property and not a claim directly against the owner. A contract that defines contractors, subcontractors, architects, or engineers as independent contractors in no way undercuts their status as RCW 60.04.011(1) construction agents. There is no significant issue here, much less an issue of substantial public interest.

Milestone argued below that allowing subcontractor employees and, presumably, material suppliers to lien would create an unwieldy system where an owner would need to get many downstream lien releases on large projects. *See* Br. of Resp'ts in the Court of Appeals, at 10. The Court of Appeals noted that the Milestone-ABSI contract envisioned laborer and material liens and gave Milestone the right to (a) withhold payment until satisfactory material supplier or laborer lien releases were provided, and (b) pay ABSI's material suppliers, laborers, or subcontractors directly. *Guillen*, slip op. at 14-15. Moreover, owners who hire reputable, solvent general contractors (or subcontractors) will not be at risk, because the downstream

entity will have an obligation to keep the property lien free, either by express or implied contract terms.

Finally, Milestone attempts to repackage its "in charge of the construction" argument in RCW 60.04.011(1) as a RAP 13.4(b)(4) issue of substantial public interest. According to Milestone only one entity—the entity in charge of "the improvement"—can be the construction agent on a project. The Court of Appeals spent considerable time showing why that argument was inconsistent with the statutory language and case law. *See Guillen*, slip op. at 12-14. Milestone's argument is wrong on several levels and does not support review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The plain language of chapter 60.04 RCW allows those dealing with licensed contractors and subcontracts to lien the buildings which their materials and labor improved. It is that reliance interest that allows construction to flourish. Subcontractors, material suppliers, and laborers do not need to investigate their contracting party's finances or upstream contracts. They know that at the very least when dealing with registered contractors and subcontractors they have lien claims against the real property to secure payment for their products and labor. Milestone's desire for a different lien system is not an issue of substantial public interest supporting review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

VI. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with any decision of this Court. Milestone's petition does not involve issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. For the reasons, this Court should deny Milestone's petition for review.